94-06020

PL-TR-93-2204

# AD-A276 727

## ELECTROMAGNETIC WAVE REFLECTION FROM IRREGULAR PLASMA LAYERS

*i* .

D. Papadopoulos R. Shanny R. Short

ARCO Power Technologies, Inc 1250 24th Street, NW Suite 850 Washington, DC 20037

31 August 1993

Final Report 31 August 1989-2 September 1993



## APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED



PHILLIPS LABORATORY Directorate of Geophysics AIR FORCE MATERIEL COMMAND HANSCOM AIR FORCE BASE, MA 01731-3010

94 2 23 260

"This technical report has been reviewed and is approved for publication."

JOMN L. HECKSCHE

ward

EDWARD J. BERGHORN, Major, USAF Chief, Ionospheric Applications Branch

WILLIAM K. VICKERY, Director Ionospheric Effects Division

This report has been reviewed by the ESC Public Affairs Office (PA) and is releasable to the National Technical Information Service (NTIS).

Qualified requestors may obtain additional copies from the Defense Technical Information Center (DTIC). All others should apply to the National Technical Information Service (NTIS).

If your address has changed, or if you wish to be removed from the mailing list, or if the addressee is no longer employed by your organization, please notify PL/TSI, 29 Randolph Road, Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-3010. This will assist us in maintaining a current mailing list.

Do not return copies of this report unless contractual obligations or notices on a specific document require that it be returned.

REPORT DOG	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188							
Public reporting burden for this collection of inform gathering and maintaining the data needed, and con collection of information, including suggestions for Data Media as Suite 2004 Actionation (Johnson 10, 2020) 480	ation is estimated to average 1 hour per opleting and reviewing the collection of educing this burden, to Washington He 2 and to be Office of Man enemotic	response, including the time for re information – Send comments regar adquarters Services, Directorate for	viewing instructions, searching existing data sources, ding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson vie (0706-0369) Wirkingston 0.07 (0509)					
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	DATES COVERED 1989-2 Sep 1993)							
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Electromagnetic Wave Ref Layers	5. FUNDING NUMBERS PE 62101F PR 4643 TA 10 WU AM							
6. AUTHOR(S) Dennis Papadopoulos Ramy Shanny Pohort D. Short	Contract F19628-89-C-0174							
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME ARCO Power Technologies, 1250 24th Street, NW Suite 850 Washington, DC 20037	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER							
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENC Phillips Laboratory 29 Randolph Road	5)	10. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER						
Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-30	PL-TR-93-2204							
Contract Manager: John H 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	leckscher/GPIA							
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STA	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE							
Approved for public rele								
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words) The general theory describing reflection of electromagnetic waves from irregular reflectors was formulated by using path integral techniques [Dashen, 1979; Flatte, 1979]. The general formulae reproduce the well known reflection coefficients for wave scattering from random rough surfaces derived by using Kirchhoff's theory or perturbation theory [Ogilvie, 1991]. The theory was used to determine the degradation of an OTH radar signal scattered from irregular Artificial Ionospheric Mirrors (AIM). The cases of density irregularities induced by fluctuations in the ambient neutral density and by fluctuations in the heater power were separately examined. Scaling laws and bounds for minimal signal loss were derived.								
14. SUBJECT TERMS	(ITTOT House Disert	Interactions	15. NUMBER OF PAGES 34					
ATTITUTAL TOHOSPHERIC P	16. PRICE CODE							
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 18. OF REPORT Unclassified	SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE Unclassified	19. SECURITY CLASSIFIC OF ABSTRACT Unclassified	ATION 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT					
NSN 7540-01-280-5500			Standard Form 298 (Rev 2-89) Prescribed by ANSI Std 239-18 298-102					

.

# **Contents**

SUMMARY OF RESULTS
1. THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS 1
1.1 General Formulation
1.2 Reflection by a Finite Size Surface
1.2.1 Smooth surface
1.2.2 Rough surface
1.2.3 Raleigh criterion
1.3. Reflection from AIM in the Presence of Fluctuations
1.3.1 Isotropic case
1.3.2 Anisotropic case
2. SOURCES AND SPECTRA OF PERMITTIVITY FLUCTUATIONS IN
AIM
2.1 Unsaturated Case
2.1.1 Weak fluctuations
2.1.2 Strong fluctuations
2.2 Saturated Case
3. DEGRADATION OF AIM PERFORMANCE DUE TO FLUCTUATIONS
IN THE LOCAL IONIZATION RATE
3.1 Fluctuations of the Ambient Neutrals
3.2 Effect of Heater Induced Fluctuations
3.2.1 Loss as a function of the density fluctuation level 19
3.2.2 Loss as a function of heater power fluctuations
3.2.3 Strong fluctuations 21
REFERENCES 22

Acces	sion for	1						
ATIS	GRAAI							
DTIC	DTIC TAB							
Unanı	Unannounced							
Just:	fication							
By								
Dist	ibution/							
Avai	lability G	cdes						
[	Areil and,	or						
Dist	Dist Special							
		j						
	1 1							

## **Figure Captions**

Figure 1.	Scattering Geometry for Plane Wave Incidence	.23
Figure 2.	Determination of phase difference between two parallel rays scattered from Points	24
Different	r onits	- 24

## <u>Table</u>

## SUMMARY OF RESULTS

## **Basic Formulae**

The degradation in the performance of the Artificial Ionospheric Mirror (AIM) due to phase fluctuations induced by irregularities in the electron density of the AIM plasma were studied. The general theory was formulated on the basis of the path integral techniques [Feynmann and Hibbs, 1965; Dashen, 1979]. It was found that the presence of irregularities in the reflector reduces the signal by

$$\mathcal{L} = -4.3 [k_o^2 < S_1^2(path) >] \ dB$$
 (1)

where  $k_0$  is the free space wavenumber and  $S_1$  is the variation in the eikonal induced by the presence of irregular structure in the reflection layer. Equation (1) when applied to specular reflection from a rough surface with random inhomogeneities having RMS height  $\Delta h$ , gives

$$\mathcal{L}(rough \ surface) = -17(k_o \Delta h)^2 \cos^2 \theta \quad dB$$
(2)

This result is consistent with the one derived by other techniques [Beckmann and Spizzichino, 1963; Ogilvie, 1991] and reproduces the Raleigh criterion. For the AIM case and assuming a linear profile with gradient length L, the loss is given by

$$\mathcal{L}(AIM) = -4.3g \, dB \tag{3}$$

For isotropic fluctuations and reflection at an angle  $\theta$ ,

$$g = 2\pi (k_o L) \left( \ln \frac{1 + \cos \theta}{1 - \cos \theta} \right) k_o \int_{0}^{\infty} S_n(k) k dk$$
(4)

where  $S_n(k)$  is the spectrum of the electron density fluctuations. For a Gaussian spectrum with correlation length  $\ell_0$ ,

$$g = \sigma_n^2 \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} (k_o l_o) (k_o L) ln \frac{1 + \cos \theta}{1 - \cos \theta}$$
(5)

where  $\sigma_n$  the RMS relative amplitude of the fluctuations. For anisotropic fluctuations the value of  $\ell_0$  in eq. (5) is replaced by the value of  $\ell_x$  of the correlation length in the incidence plane in the direction perpendicular to the density gradient, i.e.

$$g_{an} = \sigma_n^2 \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} (k_o l_x) (k_o L) ln \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}$$
(6)

## AIM Performance

Equations (3-6) were used to compute degradation of the AIM performance to electron density fluctuations induced by irregularities in the ambient neutral density and heater control. A worst and a best case were examined. For the worst case self-absorption was neglected and the final electron density was taken as

$$n(\underline{x}) = n_o e^{\nu(\underline{x})\tau} \tag{7}$$

where  $\nu(\mathbf{x})$  is the local ionization rate and  $\tau$  the heater pulse length. For the best case it was assumed that self-absorption limits the electron density so that

$$n(\underline{x}) \sim \nu^{\alpha}(\underline{x}) \tag{8}$$

with  $\alpha$  positive ( $\alpha \approx 1-2$ ). The following results were derived.

## 1. Neutral density irregularities

The upper bound for the signal loss due to irregularities in the neutral density derived using eq. (7) is given

$$\mathcal{L}_{N} = -.1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{10}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{L}{100m}\right)^{3} \left(\frac{f}{10MHz}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{4 \times 10^{3} km}{L_{c}}\right)$$

$$\times \sin^{2}\theta \cos^{2}\theta \times \left(ln\frac{1+\cos\theta}{1-\cos\theta}\right)$$
(9a)

In eq. (9a)  $\lambda = \nu \tau (\approx 10)$ , the number of growth times of the ionization,  $L_c (\approx 4 \times 10^3 km)$  the correlation length of the neutral density fluctuations and f the radar frequency. For the saturated case  $\mathcal{L}_N$  is given again by

$$\mathcal{L}_{N} = -10^{-3} \alpha^{2} \left(\frac{L}{100m}\right) \left(\frac{f}{10MHz}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{4 \times 10^{3} km}{L_{c}}\right)$$

$$\times \sin^{2}\theta \ \cos^{2}\theta \ \times \left(ln \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}\right)$$
(9b)

Notice that in eq. (9b)  $\alpha \approx 0(1)$  giving insignificant loss.

## 2. Heater induced irregularities

If the heater induces density irregularities with variance  $\sigma_n^2$ 

$$\mathcal{L}_{H} = -2.1 \left(\frac{\sigma_{n}}{.1}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{a_{o}}{10m}\right) \left(\frac{L}{100m}\right) \left(\frac{f}{10MHz}\right)^{2}$$

$$\times ln \left(\frac{1+\cos\theta}{1-\cos\theta}\right)$$
(10)

where  $a_0$  is the correlation length of the heater power density fluctuations. Equation (10) can also be cast in terms of the value  $\sigma_p$  of the variance of the heater power fluctuations. Using eq. (7) to connect the ionization rate to the density fluctuation that induces we find as an upper limit

$$\mathcal{L}_{H} = -2.1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{10}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\sigma_{p}}{10^{-2}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{a_{o}}{10m}\right) \left(\frac{f}{10MHz}\right)^{2}$$

$$\times ln \left(\frac{1+\cos\theta}{1-\cos\theta}\right)$$
(11a)

Notice that  $\sigma_p = 10^{-2}$  corresponds to ---40 dB heater power density fluctuations. If we use eq. (8) which corresponds to the saturated case  $\mathcal{L}_H$  will be given by

$$= -2.1 \times 10^{-2} \alpha^2 \left(\frac{\sigma_p}{10^{-2}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{a_o}{10m}\right) \left(\frac{f}{10MHz}\right)^2$$

$$\times ln \left(\frac{1+\cos\theta}{1-\cos\theta}\right)$$
(11b)

## 1. THEORETICAL FOUNDATIONS

## 1.1 General Formulation

We start with the wave equation in a medium with permittivity  $\epsilon(\underline{r})$ . For a monochromatic wave with frequency  $\omega$  it reduces to the Helmholtz equation

$$\nabla^2 \psi(\underline{r}, t) + k_o^2 \epsilon(\underline{r}) \psi(\underline{r}, t) = 0 \tag{1}$$

$$k_o^2 \equiv \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \tag{2}$$

For short wavelength propagation, i.e. if  $\psi(\mathbf{r})$  in the propagation direction (which we take as the x-direction) varies slowly with respect to the wavelength  $1/k_0$ , eq. (1) reduces to the "parabolic" wave equation

$$\frac{i}{k}\frac{\partial\hat{\psi}(\underline{r})}{\partial x} = \left[\frac{-1}{2k^2}\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}\right)\right] \times \hat{\psi}(\underline{r}) - \frac{1}{2}\left(1 - \epsilon(\underline{r})\hat{\psi}(\underline{r},t)\right)$$
(3)

with  $\psi = \hat{\psi}(\underline{r})e^{ikx}$  and  $\hat{\psi}$  a slowly varying function of x (Flatte, 1979; Dashen, 1979). If we write

$$\epsilon(\underline{r}) = \bar{\epsilon}(\underline{r}) + \delta\epsilon(\underline{r}) \tag{4}$$

i.e. an average permittivity and a fluctuating parts, eq. (3) becomes

$$\frac{i}{k_o}\frac{\partial\hat{\psi}(\underline{r})}{\partial x} = \left[\frac{-1}{2k_o^2}\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}\right)\right]\hat{\psi}(\underline{r}) - \frac{1}{2}[1 - \bar{\epsilon}(\underline{r})]\hat{\psi}(\underline{r}) - \frac{1}{2}\delta\epsilon(\underline{r})\hat{\psi}(\underline{r}) - \frac{1}{2}\delta\epsilon(\underline{r})\hat{\psi}(\underline{r})\right]$$
(5)

Equation (5) provides a clear distinction of the factors affecting the range propagation of  $\hat{\psi}(\underline{r})$ . The first term on the rhs describes <u>diffraction</u> due to the transverse curvature of  $\hat{\psi}(\underline{r})$ , the second term <u>refraction</u> due to the spatial variation of  $\tilde{\epsilon}(\underline{r})$ and the third term <u>scattering</u> due to the random variation  $\delta \epsilon(\underline{r})$ . If we consider propagation from a point source located at the origin of coordinates to a point  $\underline{r}$  $\hat{\psi}(\underline{r})$  can be written as

$$\hat{\psi}(\underline{r}) = \frac{1}{4\pi r} u(\underline{r}) \tag{6}$$

where the factor  $\frac{1}{4\pi r^2}$  accounts for energy flux conservation due to geometric spreading, while u(r) incorporates phase effects (including absorption) during propagation.

A formal solution of eqs. (5) and (6) can be written as a <u>path integral</u> (Feynman and Hibbs, 1965), which sums phase contributions over <u>all</u> paths [y(x), z(x)] connecting the source to the receiver. It is given by

$$u(\underline{x}) = N \int d(paths) \exp\{ik_o S_o(path)\}$$

$$\times \exp\{ik_o S_1(path)\}$$
(7)

where

$$S_{o}(path) = \int_{o}^{R} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial z(x)}{\partial x} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial y(x)}{\partial x} \right)^{2} - \frac{1}{2} - \left[ 1 - \bar{\epsilon}[x, y(x), z(x)] \right] \right\} dx$$

$$S_{1}(path) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{o}^{R} \delta \epsilon[x, y(x), z(x)] dx \qquad (9)$$

and N is a normalization factor adjusted to provide unity if  $\delta \epsilon = 0$ . We proceed next to determine the average value u(r). It will be given by

$$< u > = < N \int d(path) \exp[ik_o S_o(path) + ik_o S_1(path)] >$$
(10)

We assume next that the eikonal  $k_0S_1$  (path) is a Gaussian variable and

- (i) Interchange averages and integrations.
- (ii) Use the fact that for a Gaussian variable at

$$< e^{ia} > = exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} < a^2 >\right)$$

Under these conditions eq. (10) becomes

$$< u > = N \int d(path)exp[ik_o S_o(path)] \\ \times exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}k_o^2 < S_1^2(path) > \right)$$
(11)

where

$$< S_1^2(path) >= \frac{1}{4} < (\int_{path} [\delta \epsilon(\underline{r}(x))]^2 dx >$$
(12)

Equation (11) gives a physically transparent but deceptively simple looking result. The first term describes the propagation in a smooth medium, while the term

$$R = exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}k_o^2 < S_1^2(path) >\right) \tag{13}$$

decribes the modification of the propagation by the presence of fluctuations. For  $R \approx 1$  we recover propagation through a smooth medium. From eq. (13) the signal reduction  $\mathcal{L}$  will be

$$\mathcal{L} = -4.3 [k_o^2 < S_1^2(path) >] \ dB$$
(14)

In practical terms the important task is the to determination of the value of  $< S_1^2(path) >$  under the relevant propagation conditions. In the next section

we will consider a reflection from a finite size surface. This will allow us to compare eq. (12) with standard results [Beckman and Spizzichino, 1963]. The AIM case will be examined in the subsequent sections.

## 1.2 Reflection by a Finite Size Surface

### 1.2.1 Smooth surface

We apply first the above results to the case of reflection by a smooth surface. Consider a surface with dimensions  $\pm X$  and  $\pm Y$  (Figure 1). The value of S<sub>0</sub>(path) will be given [Ogilvy, 1991]

$$S_o(x_o, y_o) = Ax_o + By_o + Ch \tag{15a}$$

$$A = \sin\theta_1 - \sin\theta_2 \cos\theta_3$$
  

$$B = -\sin\theta_2 \sin\theta_3$$
 (15b)  

$$C = -(\cos\theta_1 + \cos\theta_2)$$

and

$$\langle u \rangle = N \cos \theta_1 \int dx_o dy_o \times exp[ik_o S_o(x_o, y_o)] \times R(x_o, y_o)$$
 (16)

For a smooth surface (i.e. R = 1) with area

$$A_M = 4XY \tag{17}$$

$$< u \stackrel{o}{>} = N e^{ik_o Ch} \times cos\theta_1 \times A_M$$
$$\times \frac{sink_o AX}{k_o AX} \times \frac{sink_o BY}{k_o BY}$$
(18)

Absorbing the constant phase factor  $exp(lik_0Ch)$  to the normalization N, we recover the standard formula

$$< u \stackrel{o}{>} = N(A_M \cos\theta_1)$$

$$\times \frac{\sin k_o AX}{k_o AX} \frac{\sin k_o BY}{k_o BY}$$
(19)

For specular reflection A = 0, B = 0

$$< u \stackrel{o}{\underset{spec}{>}} = N(A_M \cos \theta_1)$$
 (20)

## 1.2.2 Rough surface

Let us examine next specular reflection from a rough surface. From eq. (16) with A = B = 0, we find

$$\langle u \rangle_{sp} = N \cos \theta_1 \int dx_o dy_o R(x_o, y_o).$$
 (21)

For a surface with random height inhomogeneities with RMS standard deviation  $\triangle h$  independent of the position (x<sub>0</sub>, y<sub>0</sub>) we find, using eq. (13) in eq. (21),

$$< u >= N \cos\theta_1 A_M \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}k_o^2 \Delta h^2 4 \cos^2\theta_1\right)$$
(22)

or

$$< u \underset{sp}{>} = < u \underset{sp}{\stackrel{o}{>}} exp\left(-\frac{g_o}{2}\right)$$
 (23)

$$g_o \equiv 4k_o^2 \,\Delta h^2 \cos^2 \theta_1 \tag{24}$$

The loss during specular reflection will be

$$\mathcal{L}(\text{rough surface}) = -17(k_o \bigtriangleup h)^2 \cos^2 \theta \ dB$$
(25)

The more general formula reads

$$\langle u \rangle = \langle u_o \rangle exp\left(-\frac{g}{2}\right)$$
 (26a)

with

$$g \equiv k_o^2 \triangle h^2 (\cos\theta_1 + \cos\theta_2)^2$$
 (26b)

For the specular case ( $\theta_1 = \theta_2$ ), eqs. (26) reduce to eqs. (23) and (24).

## 1.2.3 Raleigh criterion

The Raleigh criterion is a criterion that determines the degree of roughness of a surface on the basis of a simple physical argument. Referring to Figure 2 we consider scattering in the azimuthal plane (i.e. the (x-z) plane of incidence). The difference in phase between two scattered rays is

$$\Delta \phi = k_o[(z_1 - z_2)(\cos\theta_1 + \cos\theta_2) + (x_2 - x_1)] \times (\sin\theta_1 - \sin\theta_2)$$
(27)

For specular scattering ( $\theta_1 = \theta_2$ ) the phase difference becomes

$$\Delta \phi = 2k_o \Delta h \, \cos\theta_1 \tag{28}$$

where  $\Delta h = z_1 - z_2$ . the interference between the two rays depends on  $\Delta \phi$ . For  $\Delta \phi << \pi$  the waves will interfere constructively. For  $\Delta \phi \sim \pi$  the waves will interfere destructively, leading to very weak contribution in the specular direction. The "Rayleigh Criterion" states that if  $\Delta h$  is the surface RMS deviation, the surface is smooth for  $\Delta \phi < \frac{\pi}{2}$ . This stated mathematically as

$$k_o \triangle h \, \cos\theta_1 < \frac{\pi}{4} \tag{29}$$

From eq. (26b) we find that

$$g = 4k_o^2 \Delta h \, \cos^2 \theta_1 < \frac{\pi^2}{4} \tag{30}$$

which from eq. (25) corresponds to a loss of less than 10 db, a rather significant loss. A better criterion will be  $k_o \triangle h \cos \theta_1 < \frac{\pi}{8}$ .

## 1.3. <u>Reflection from AIM in the Presence of Fluctuations</u>

## 1.3.1 Isotropic case

From eqs.(11-13) we find that the deterioration of the signal due to inhomogeneities in the AIM surface, will be given by

$$\frac{\langle u \rangle}{\langle u \rangle_o} = exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}k_o^2 \langle S_1^2(path) \rangle\right]$$
(31)

where

$$\langle S_1^2(path) \rangle = \langle \left( \int_{path} ds \, \delta \epsilon(\underline{r}(s)) \right) \rangle$$
 (32)

Let us first examine the case of isotropic fluctuations with scale length much shorter than the path through the cloud. In this case (Rytov et al., 1990)

$$\langle S_1^2(path) \rangle = \delta \sigma_{\phi}^2 \tag{33}$$

The eikonal variation  $\delta \sigma_{\phi}^2$  is given by

$$\delta\sigma_{\phi}^{2} = \pi^{2} \int_{o}^{\ell_{o}(\theta)} \frac{ds}{\bar{\epsilon}[z(s)]} \int_{o}^{\infty} S_{\epsilon}(k, z(s)) k dk$$
(34)

where  $\ell_o(\theta)$  is the zero order path of the ray incident at an angle  $\theta$  and  $S_{\epsilon}(k,z)$  the spectrum of the fluctuations  $\delta \epsilon$  at the point z. Equation (34) can be analytically

evaluated when  $S_{\epsilon}(k)$  is independent of position and the AIM layer has a linear profile with scale length L. Such a profile can be described by

$$n(z) = n_c \frac{z}{L} \tag{35}$$

where  $n_c$  is the critical density defined as

$$n_c = \frac{m\omega^2}{4\pi e^2} \tag{36}$$

In this case the zero order ray follows a parabolic trajectory given by

$$z = x \cot\theta - \frac{1}{2} \frac{x^2}{L \sin^2 \theta}$$
(37)

The ray turns at a level given by

$$z_t(\theta) = L\cos^2\theta \tag{38}$$

and exits the AIM cloud after traveling an horizontal distance  $\Delta(\theta)$  given

$$\Delta(\theta) = 4L\sin\theta\,\cos\theta\tag{39}$$

Integrating eq. (34) by using the path (37) we find

$$\delta \sigma_{\phi}^{2}(\theta) = 2\pi^{2} L\left(\ell n \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} S_{\epsilon}(k) k dk.$$
(40)

For a Gaussian fluctuation spectrum

$$\psi_{\epsilon}(r) = \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 e^{-r^2/2\ell_o^2} \tag{41}$$

the integral in eq. (40) gives

$$2\pi^2 \int_{o}^{\infty} S_{\epsilon}(k) k dk = \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \ell_o$$
(42)

so that

$$\delta\sigma_{\phi}^{2} = \sigma_{\epsilon}^{2} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \ell_{o} L\left(\ell n \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}\right)$$
(43)

The signal deterioration will be given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -4.3 \, g \, dB \tag{44a}$$

where

$$g = \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} (k_o \ell_o) (k_o L) \ell n \left(\frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}\right)$$
(44b)

From eq. (34) it is easy to see that  $\delta \sigma_{\phi}^2$  maximizes when  $\bar{\epsilon}(z)$  becomes small, i.e. near the turning regions of the layer. It is easy to find that 50% of the contribution to  $\delta \sigma_{\phi}^2$ , comes from a fraction of the layer near the top with width  $\Delta L$  given by

$$\frac{\Delta L}{z_t} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\sin\theta(1-\sin\theta)}{\cos^2\theta}$$

This corresponds to about a fifth of the layer at  $\theta = 45^{\circ}$  and 1/6 at  $\theta = 30^{\circ}$ . Notice that in this region the rays are almost parallel to x.

A simple but intuitive way to derive the above result is as follows. Consider phase fluctuations over a ray of length  $\ell$  and inhomogeneities with scale  $\ell_{\epsilon}$ . The ray path will accommodate  $N \sim \frac{\ell}{\ell_{\epsilon}}$  independent inhomogeneities. After a simple inhomogeneity the phase shift of the wave will be

$$\ell_{\epsilon}\frac{\omega}{c}\tilde{\epsilon}\approx k_{o}\ell_{\epsilon}\delta\epsilon$$

Since the random quantities corresponding to the different inhomogeneities are independent, the total mean square of the phase shift will be

$$< S_{1}^{2} >= N < (\ell_{\epsilon}k_{o}\delta\epsilon)^{2} >\approx \frac{\ell}{\ell_{\epsilon}}\ell_{\epsilon}^{2}k_{o}^{2}\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2}$$

$$\approx (k_{o}\ell_{\epsilon})(k_{o}z)\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2}$$
(45)

which is comparable to eq. (43).

## 1.3.2 Anisotropic case

For a situation with anisotropic fluctuations eq. (34) becomes

$$\delta\sigma_{\phi}^{2} = \frac{\pi}{2} \int_{o}^{\ell_{o}(\theta)} \frac{ds}{\bar{\epsilon}[z(s)]} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} S_{\epsilon}(\underline{k}_{\perp}; z(s)) d^{2}k_{\perp}$$
(46)

where  $\underline{k_{\perp}}$  refers to the transverse direction at every point on the path. The role of anisotropic fluctuations can be understood by considering the value of the integral

$$I = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} S_{\epsilon}(\underline{k}_{\perp}, 0) d^2 k_{\perp}$$
(47)

for the case that the fluctuations are described by

$$\psi_{\epsilon}(\underline{r}) = \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{x^2}{a^2} + \frac{y^2}{b^2} + \frac{z^2}{c^2}\right)\right]$$
(48)

In this case  $\delta_{\epsilon}(\mathbf{r})$  has a spectrum

$$S_{\epsilon}(\underline{k}) = \frac{\sigma_{\epsilon}^2 a b c}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \left(a^2 k_x^2 + b^2 k_y^2 + c^2 k_z^2\right)\right]$$
(49)

Assuming propagation on the x-z plane at an angle  $\gamma$  to the z-axis

$$I(\gamma) = \frac{\sigma_{\epsilon}^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \frac{ac}{\sqrt{a^2 \cos^2 \gamma + c^2 \sin^2 \gamma}}$$
(50)

Notice that for propagation in the x-direction  $(\gamma = \frac{\pi}{2})$ ,

$$I\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right) = \frac{\sigma_{\epsilon}^2 a}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \tag{51a}$$

and for  $\gamma = 0$ ,

$$I(0) = \frac{\sigma_{\epsilon}^2 c}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$$
(51b)

Namely the eikonal correlation is controlled by the correlation length <u>along</u> the propagation direction. From eqs. (46-49)

$$\delta \sigma_{\phi}^{2}(\theta) = \left(\frac{\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2}}{2}\right) \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}a} \times \alpha$$

$$\times \int \frac{ds}{\bar{\epsilon}[z(s)]} \frac{1}{\left[\sin^{2}\gamma(s) + \frac{a^{2}}{c^{2}}\cos^{2}\gamma(s)\right]}$$
(52)

where  $\gamma(s)$  is the local propagation angle. For isotropic spectra a = c and we recover the result of eq. (41) with  $\ell_o$  replaced by a. Since the integral of eq. (52) maximizes when  $\bar{\epsilon}[z(s)]$  is minimum, i.e. near the turning regions,  $\gamma(s) \approx \frac{\pi}{2}$  and as long as  $\frac{a^2}{c^2} \cos^2 \gamma(s) \ll 1$ ,

$$\delta\sigma_{\phi}^{2}(\theta) = \left(\frac{\sigma_{\epsilon}^{2}}{2}\right) \left(\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}}\right) \int_{0}^{\ell_{o}(\theta)} \frac{ds}{\overline{\epsilon}[z(s)]}$$
(53)

For a linear density profile eq. (53) gives

$$\delta \sigma_{\phi}^{2}(\theta) = \sigma_{\epsilon}^{2} \left( \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \right) L \, \ell n \left( \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta} \right) \tag{54}$$

The result is similar to eq. (42) but with the isotropic scale length  $\ell_o$ , replaced by the scale length  $\alpha$  in the x direction. The value of g is given by

$$g(\theta) = \sigma_{\epsilon}^2 \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} (k_o a) (k_o L) \ell n \left(\frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}\right)$$
(55)

#### 2. SOURCES AND SPECTRA OF PERMITTIVITY FLUCTUATIONS IN AIM

For practical AIM systems there are two sources of permittivity fluctuations  $\delta\epsilon(\underline{r})$ , due to electron density fluctuations within the cloud. Both are associated with fluctuations in the local ionization rate. The first source is due to natural fluctuations in the ambient neutral density. The second is due to spatial variation of the incident RF power caused by scanning and heat control errors. In both cases the electron density fluctuations are induced by fluctuations in the ionization rate  $\nu(\underline{x})$ . In deriving the spectrum  $S_n(\underline{k})$  from the spectrum of the ionization rate fluctuations  $S_{\nu}(\underline{k})$ , we use two models. An upper limit on the value of  $S_n(\underline{k})$  can be found by ignoring self-absorption in the formation of the AIM cloud and assuming that

$$n(\underline{x}) = n_o e^{\nu(\underline{x})\tau} \tag{56}$$

where  $\tau$  is the pulse length of heater and n<sub>o</sub> the initial electron density. A more realistic estimate can be found by considering the saturated case (i.e. including self-absorption) in which case

$$n(\underline{x}) \sim \nu^{\alpha}(\underline{x}) \tag{57}$$

with  $\alpha \approx 1-2$ . The spectrum  $S_n(k)$  is defined here in a normalized form, i.e.

$$S_n(\underline{k}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int \frac{\langle nn \mid \underline{x} > e^{-i\underline{k}\cdot\underline{x}}}{\overline{n}^2}$$
(58)

so that

$$S_n(\underline{k}) = S_{\epsilon}(\underline{k}). \tag{59}$$

## 2.1 Unsaturated Case

For the unsaturated case, we assume that the density at a point x, is related to the ionization rate by eq. (56). We, furthermore, normalize  $\nu(\underline{x})$  to the pulse length  $\tau$ , so that  $\nu(\underline{x}) = \nu(\underline{x})\tau$ . As a result

$$< n(x)n(x') >= n_o^2 < e^{\nu(x)}e^{\nu(x')} >$$
 (60)

Writing

$$\nu(x) = \overline{\nu}(x) + \delta\nu(x) \tag{61}$$

we find

$$< n(x)n(x') >= n_o^2 e^{2\overline{\nu}(x)} < e^{\delta\nu(x)} e^{\delta\nu(x')} >$$
(62)

Assuming that

$$\langle \delta \nu(x) \rangle = 0 \tag{63}$$

with

$$\langle e^{\delta\nu(x)} \rangle = exp\left[\frac{1}{2} < \delta\nu^2(x) > \right]$$
 (64)

we find that eq. (62) becomes

$$< n(x)n(x') >= n_o^2 e^{2\overline{\nu}(x)} e^{<\delta\nu^2>} exp[<\delta\nu(x)\delta\nu(x')>]$$
(65)

As a result

$$< n(x)n(x') > - < n^{2}(x) > = n_{o}^{2}e^{2\bar{\nu}(x)} \exp(<\nu^{2} >) \times [\exp(<\delta\nu(x)\delta\nu(x') >) - 1]$$
(66)

If we define

$$G(x - x') \equiv \frac{\langle n(x)n(x') \rangle - \langle n^{2}(x) \rangle}{\langle n^{2}(x) \rangle}$$
  
=  $[exp(\langle \delta\nu(x)\delta\nu(x') \rangle) - 1]$  (67)

the one dimensional electron density fluctuation spectrum, will be given by

$$S_n(k) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx e^{-ikx} G(x) \tag{68}$$

ог

$$S_n(k) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx \ e^{-ikx} \left[ e^{\langle \delta \nu \delta \nu | x \rangle} - 1 \right]$$
(69)

Returning to dimensional variables and defining

$$\lambda \equiv \overline{\nu}\tau \tag{70}$$

and

$$S_{\nu}(x) \equiv \frac{\langle \delta \nu \delta \nu \mid x \rangle}{\overline{\nu}^2} = \sigma_{\nu}^2 F_{\nu}(x)$$
(71)

with  $F_{\nu}(x=0)=1, \quad F_{\nu}(x \to \infty)=0$ , eq. (69) becomes

$$S_{n}(k) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx \ e^{-ikx} \{ exp[\lambda^{2}\sigma_{\nu}^{2}F_{\nu}(x)] - 1 \}$$
(72)

Notice that the value of  $\lambda^2 \sigma_{\nu}^2$  is the strength parameter, since  $F_{\nu}(x) \leq 1$ . We distinguish the cases of weak,  $\lambda^2 \sigma_{\nu}^2 << 1$ , and strong,  $\lambda^2 \sigma_{\nu}^2 > 1$ , fluctuations.

## 2.1.1 Weak fluctuations

We define as weak fluctuations if  $\lambda^2 \sigma_{\nu}^2 << 1$ . For example, if  $\lambda \approx 10$  weak fluctuations imply  $\frac{\delta \nu}{\tilde{\nu}} \leq .1$ . The practical applications require such as a condition. From eq. (72) we find

$$S_n(k) = \lambda^2 S_\nu(k) \tag{73}$$

Namely the spectral distribution of the density fluctuations will be similar to the ionization rate fluctuations, but their strength will increase by  $\lambda^2$ .

## 2.1.2 Strong fluctuations

In this case  $\lambda^2 \sigma_{\nu}^2 >> 1$  and

$$S_n(k) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx \ e^{-ikx} \ exp(\lambda^2 \sigma_\nu^2 F_\nu(x))$$
(74)

In order to proceed we assume that

$$F_{\nu}(x) = \frac{b^2}{b^2 + x^2}$$
(75)

This is a Lorentzian spectrum with correlation length b. For  $F_{\nu}(x)$  given by eq. (75) the integral in eq. (72) can be performed, using the technique of stationary phase. We find

$$S_n(k) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2} \frac{1}{k}} exp\left(-\frac{k^2 b^2}{2\sigma_\nu^2 \lambda^2}\right)$$
(76)

The importance of this result lies in the fact that while for weak fluctuation there is essentially no spectral shift, for strong fluctuations there is a complete shift of the spectrum towards shorter wavelengths. The equivalent correlation length is smaller by  $\frac{1}{\sigma_{\nu}\lambda}$  and can be strongly reduced by adjusting  $\lambda$  to large values.

## 2.2 Saturated Case

For the saturated case the density is connected to the ionization rate via eq. (57). In this case

$$< n(x)n(x') > = < \nu^{\alpha}(x')\nu^{\alpha}(x') >$$

$$= < (\overline{\nu}(x) + \delta\nu(x))^{\alpha}(\overline{\nu}(x') + \delta\nu(x'))^{\alpha} >$$

$$= (\overline{\nu}(x))^{2\alpha} \left(1 + \alpha^{2} \frac{<\delta\nu(x')\delta\nu(x)>}{\overline{\nu}^{2}}\right)$$
(77)

From eq. (77) it is straightforward to find that

$$S_n(k) = \alpha^2 S_\nu(k) \tag{78}$$

Namely the spectrum of the fluctuations remains the same but the amplitude is modified by the factor  $\alpha^2$ .

## 3. DEGRADATION OF AIM PERFORMANCE DUE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN THE LOCAL IONIZATION RATE

## 3.1 Fluctuations of the Ambient Neutrals

The ionization rate is a linear function of the neutral density N. As a result, if all other factors are constant

$$S_{\nu}(k) = S_N(k) \tag{79}$$

Based on available measurements [Jursa, 1985] for the relevant altitude range of 60-80 km, S<sub>N</sub>(k) can be described by an isotropic spectrum

$$S_N(|\underline{k}|) = \frac{k_c}{k^4} \qquad k > k_c \tag{80}$$

This corresponds to an isotropic spatial autocorrelation function  $\langle \delta N \delta N \mid \underline{r} \rangle$ which for "small" distances has a linear decay with radius with scale length  $L_c = \frac{1}{4k_c}$ . The wavenumber spectrum of eq. (79) has a spectral index of p=4, i.e. decays as k<sup>-4</sup>. The corresponding <u>one dimensional</u> wavenumber spectrum has a spectral index  $\alpha = p-2 = 2$ . From Figure 3 and Table 1 we see that  $L_c \gtrsim 4 \times 10^3 km$ , giving  $k_c \approx 10^{-4} km^{-1}$ .

For the AIM problem the maximum size of the inhomogeneities of interest corresponds to the minimum of either the Fresnel size  $L_F$ , which is of the order of a few kms, or of  $\Delta(\theta)$  defined by eq. (39). It is convenient to cast eq. (79) as

$$S_N(\underline{k}) = A \frac{k_m}{k^4} , \qquad k > k_m$$
(81)

where

$$A \equiv \left(\frac{k_c}{k_m}\right) \tag{82a}$$

$$k_m = max\left(\frac{1}{\Delta}, \frac{1}{L_F}\right) \tag{82b}$$

From eqs. (73), and (82)

$$S_{\epsilon}(k) = S_n(k) = A\lambda^2 \frac{k_m}{k^4}, \quad k > k_m$$
(83)

For the linear profile eqs. (40) and (82) give

$$\delta \sigma_{\phi}^{2} = 2\pi^{2} L \left( ln \frac{1 + cos\theta}{1 - cos\theta} \right) (A\lambda^{2}) k_{m}$$

$$\times \int_{k_{m}}^{\infty} \frac{dk}{k^{3}}$$

$$= 2\pi^{2} L \left( ln \frac{1 + cos\theta}{1 - cos\theta} \right) (A\lambda^{2}) \left( \frac{1}{2k_{m}} \right)$$

$$= \pi^{2} L \left( ln \frac{1 + cos\theta}{1 - cos\theta} \right) (A\lambda^{2}) \frac{1}{k_{m}}$$
(84)

For the general AIM case  $\triangle < L_F$  and  $k_m = \frac{1}{\Delta}$ . As a result

$$\delta\sigma_{\phi}^{2}(\theta) = \pi^{2}L\lambda^{2} \left( ln \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta} \right) \frac{\Delta^{2}(\theta)}{L_{c}}$$
(85)

From eqs. (14) and (34) the signal loss will be given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -4.3\pi\lambda^{2}(k_{o}L)(k_{o} \bigtriangleup(\theta))\frac{\bigtriangleup(\theta)}{L_{c}} \times ln\frac{1+\cos\theta}{1-\cos\theta} dB$$
(86)

For a linear profile using the results of Section 1.3, eq. (86) becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = -.1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{10}\right)^2 \left(\frac{L}{100m}\right)^3 \left(\frac{f}{10MHz}\right)^2 \left(\frac{4 \times 10^3 km}{L_c}\right) \times \left(ln \frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}\right)$$
(87)

$$imes sin^2 heta \ cos^2 heta \ dE$$

Equation (87) represents an upper limit in the fluctuations, since as it can be easily verified in this case the weak fluctuation limit is always valid. For the saturated case the loss will have the same form as in (86) but with  $\lambda$  replaced by  $\alpha$ . Since  $\alpha \approx 0(1)$  the loss rate will be totally negligible, in this case.

## 3.2 Effect of Heater Induced Fluctuations

#### 3.2.1 Loss as a function of the density fluctuation level

Fluctuations in the electron density can also arise from the finite step of the heater during painting of the AIM cloud, as well as from any other heater phase errors [Short et al., 1990]. The analysis below addresses the constraints imposed by a heater step size. The analysis relevant to this case is the anisotropic analysis discussed in Section 1.3.2. Assuming that the heater induced fluctuations have a correlation length a in the ray direction equal to the step size  $a_0$  of the ionizing beam, we find that the power loss will be given from eqs. (25) and (56) as

$$\mathcal{L} = -2.1 \left[ \frac{\delta n/n_o}{.1} \right]^2 \left( \frac{f}{10MHz} \right)^2 \left( \frac{a_o}{10m} \right) \left( \frac{L}{100m} \right) ln \left( \frac{1+\cos\theta}{1-\cos\theta} \right)$$
(88)

For a step size of 10m, f = 10 MHz and  $L \approx 100m$ , the round trip loss will be 4-5 db for 10% density fluctuations. To achieve the same performance with 50

MHz the fluctuation level should be reduced to 2%. As discussed by Short et al. [1990] these can be easily achieved.

### 3.2.2 Loss as a function of heater power fluctuations

In this case the fluctuations will be anisotropic and we should use the equations derived in Section 1.3.2 to calculate the loss. We assume that the power fluctuation spectrum is given by

$$S_p(x) = \sigma_p^2 F_p\left(\frac{x}{a}\right) \tag{89}$$

and taking  $\nu \sim P$  we find

$$S_{\nu}(x) = \sigma_p^2 F_p\left(\frac{x}{a}\right) \tag{90}$$

For the case of weak fluctuations

$$\lambda^2 \sigma_p^2 << 1$$

$$S_n(x) = \lambda^2 \sigma_p^2 F_p\left(\frac{x}{a}\right)$$
(91)

For a Gaussian spectrum  $F_p(\frac{x}{a})$ , eq. (56) in conjunction with eq. (12b) gives

$$= -1.7 \left(\frac{\lambda}{10}\right)^2 \left(\frac{\sigma_p}{10^{-2}}\right) \left(\frac{a}{10m}\right) \left(\frac{L}{100m}\right) \left(\frac{f}{10MHz}\right)^2 \times ln \frac{1+\cos\theta}{1+\sin\theta} dB$$
(92)

Notice that  $\sigma_p = 10^{-2}$  corresponds to power fluctuations of 4-40 dB. According to Short et al. [1990] power fluctuations as low as --60 dB can be achieved. For the saturated case replacing  $\lambda$  by  $\alpha$  we find losses by at least an order of magnitude smaller.

### 3.2.3 Strong fluctuations

It is interesting to examine the upper limit of loss for the case of strong fluctuations in the sense of  $\lambda \sigma_{\rm p} \gg 1$ . Such is the case if the heater power fluctuations are large (i.e. > 10 db). In this case using eq. (46) for  $\delta \sigma_{\phi}^2$ , with the spectrum given in eq. (77) we find

$$g(\theta) \approx \frac{1}{(\sigma_p \lambda)} (k_o b)(k_o L) ln\left(\frac{1 + \cos\theta}{1 - \cos\theta}\right)$$
(93)

Notice that the correlation length has shifted to  $\frac{b}{\sigma_p \lambda}$  instead of b. The loss computed on the basis of eq. (91) is

$$\mathcal{L} = -8\left(\frac{1}{\sigma_p}\right)\left(\frac{20}{\lambda}\right)\left(\frac{b}{10m}\right)\left(\frac{L}{100}\right)ln\left(\frac{1+\cos\theta}{1-\cos\theta}\right) \ dB \tag{94}$$

Acknowledgement: Many discussions and careful critique of the work by Drs. N. Borisov, P. Sprangle, and Mr. T. Wallace are acknowledged and appreciated.

### REFERENCES

- Beckmann, P. and A. Spizzichino, "The Scattering of Electromagnetic Waves from Rough Surfaces", Pergamon Press, 1963.
- Dashen, R., Path Integrals for Waves in Random Media, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 148, 208-214, 1979.
- Feynman, R. and D. Hibbs, "Quantum Mechanics and Path Integrals", Mc-Graw-Hill, New York, 1965.
- Flatte, S.M., "Sound Transmission Through a Fluctuating Ocean" Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1979.
- Jursa, A. S., Handbook of Geophysics and the Space Environment, A. S. Jursa, Scientific Editor, Air Force Geophysics Laboratory, 1985, AFGL-TR-85-0315, ADA167000.
- Ogilvie, T., "Scattering from Rough Surfaces", Pergamon Press, 1991.
- Rytov, S. M., Yu. A. Kravtsov and V. I. Tatarski, Principles of Statistical Radiophysics, Vol. 3, Springer Verlag, 1988.
- Short, R., P. Lallement, D. Papadopoulos, T. Wallace, A. Ali, P. Koert, R. Shanny, C. Stewart, A. Drobot, K. Tsang and P. Vitello, Physics Studies in Artificial Ionospheric Mirror (AIM) Related Phenomena, GL-TR-90-0038, Geophysics. Laboratory Air Force Systems Command, 1990, ADA227112.











Figure 3.

Alt (km)	90	Jan 180 km	360	90	Apr 180 km	360	90	Jul 180 km	360	90	Oct 180 km	360
10	0.10	0.13	0.18	0.10	0.13	0.18	0.10	0.13	0.18	0.10	0.13	0.18
15	0.13	0.17	0.25	0.11	0.14	0.21	0.16	0.20	0.30	0.16	0.20	0.30
18	0.50	0.61	1.00	0.34	0.42	0.68	0.30	0.37	0.60	0.34	0.42	0.68
20	0.28	0.34	0.56	0.28	0.34	0.56	0.24	0.29	0.48	0.24	0.29	0.48
25	0.28	0.34	0.56	0.28	0.34	0.56	0.24	0.29	0.48	0.26	0.32	0.52
30	0.30	0.37	0.60	0.30	0.37	0.60	0.28	0.34	0.56	0.30	0.37	0.60
35	0.34	0.42	0.68	0.30	0.37	0.60	0.30	0.37	0.60	0.36	0.44	0.72
40	0.40	0.49	0.80	0.44	0.54	0.88	0.48	0.59	0.96	0.44	0.54	0.88
45	0.46	0.56	0.92	0.40	0.49	0.80	0.60	0.73	1.20	0.52	0.64	1.04
50	0.56	0.69	1.12	0.54	0.66	1.08	0.72	0.88	1.44	0.54	0.66	1.08
55	0.66	0.81	1.32	0.56	0.69	1.12	0.84	1.03	1.68	0.78	0.96	1.56
60	0.84	1.03	1.68	0.66	0.81	1.32	1.00	1.22	2.00	0.82	1.00	1.64

Table 1. Estimated rms Differences (% of mean) Between Densities at Locations 90,180, and 360 km Apart During the Midseason Months in the Tropics